



12/7/23 DRAFT – NOT FINAL

Commented [LH1]: HDC members: Please note that formatting is not final and staff will continue to work on design, simple graphics and visualization, consistency, etc. We would love to hear suggestions on how to represent certain areas or info, but please don't get too stuck on formatting issues with this draft. Thank you!

January 2024

State Policy Action Plan to Eliminate Health Disparities

Contents

Executive Summary	2
Council Activities	4
Council Membership	5
Council Redesign Process	6
RECOMMENDATIONS	
1. Council Redesign: Statutory Updates	17
2. Council Redesign: Fiscal Investment	19

Governor's Interagency Council on Health Disparities

PO Box 47990

Olympia, WA 98504-7990

Phone: 360-236-4110, TTY 711

Fax: 360-236-4088

E-mail: healthequity@sboh.wa.gov

Web: <http://healthequity.wa.gov>

INTRODUCTION EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The [Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities](#) (Council) was created by the state legislature in 2006. Currently, our primary role is to identify priorities and create a state policy action plan to eliminate unjust health disparities (health inequities) by race/ethnicity and gender in Washington. Our work is authorized by chapters [43.20.270](#), [43.20.275](#), and [43.20.280](#) RCW.

Over the past 17 years, the Council has grown our understanding by hearing from community about health equity issues, convening subcommittees on priority topics, conducting special projects at the legislature’s direction, creating policy recommendations and reports, and promoting interagency collaboration.

The [Council’s redesign](#) and this State Action Plan update are informed by our learnings and these foundational truths:

- Racism is a public health crisis.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has worsened conditions for communities.
- We are interconnected.
- There are many dimensions to health and wellbeing.
- Community holds inherent power.

RECOMMENDATIONS

~~This report outlines strategies to advance health justice and address health inequities by: In this report, the Council recommends the following strategies to advance health justice and address health inequities in Washington:~~

- ~~(1) Recommending the passage of legislation to update the Council’s name, membership, authority, and responsibilities in statute; and~~
- ~~(2) Recommending increased funding for the Council through the state operating budget to provide for adequate staffing and effective operations.~~

1. Pass legislation to update the Council’s authorizing statute

- Update the Council’s name to “Governor’s Council for Health Justice and Equity.”
- Enable the Council to create a Health Justice vision, goals, and policy recommendations to guide state actions toward enduring health equity and optimal health for all.
- Align with initiatives that unify partners and reinforce accountability (e.g., state Pro-Equity and Anti-Racism – PEAR), environmental justice, and economic justice strategies).
- Center community voice and participatory processes.
- Update membership and structure to better reflect community experiences and allow the Council to address complex, evolving priorities.
- Grant the Council express authority to use findings from Health Impact Reviews to inform strategies; take a position on policy; and independently endorse other groups’ policy recommendations.

Commented [LH2]: Received feedback to make this section an executive summary that includes a summary of our recommendations. Provide all critical info upfront in the report.

Commented [LH3]: Placed a summary of recommendations here. No new recommendations were added, so this is not a substantive change.

- Update Council reporting requirements.

2. Increase funding for the Council through the state operating budget, so the Council can:

- Hire and retain staff for research, analysis, policy development, communications, administration, Tribal relations, and community engagement.
- Fully operate and create meaningful, enduring relationships and strategies.
- Hold hybrid and accessible public meetings throughout the state so communities have a meaningful chance to participate.
- Use communication tools to share information, build connections across communities, and support collaboration.
- Provide language assistance services.
- Provide stipends and other supports to workgroup participants to remove barriers to participation.

Additional information on these recommendations begins on page X.

[PLACEHOLDER FOR COUNCIL PHOTO]

COUNCIL ACTIVITIES

The Council’s authorizing statute (chapters [43.20.270](#), [43.20.275](#), and [43.20.280](#) RCW), the law that governs our work, directs the Council to address certain health topics on an incremental basis along with addressing the social determinants of health.

Since our creation in 2006, the Council has worked ~~with partners in partnership with state agencies and public, private, and community organizations~~ to identify priorities, convene [advisory committees](#), and create [policy recommendations](#). The Council released the first [State Action Plan](#) in 2010 and has published periodic updates since. In addition to the list of health conditions and indicators mentioned in our statute, we have created recommendations on:

- access to healthy food
- health insurance coverage
- healthcare services capacity in rural areas
- healthcare workforce diversity
- educational opportunity gaps
- behavioral health
- reproductive health access
- environmental exposures and hazards
- poverty reduction
- disaggregated data
- culturally and linguistically appropriate services
- equity in state government
- community engagement

The Council is also guided by our operating principles: embrace equity; focus on racism; prioritize social determinants of health; center community; commit to bold action; and be vigilant for unintended consequences. In all we do, the Council strives to center community voice and expertise.

Commented [LH4]: Received feedback from a colleague that we should express what we mean by "community" since we refer to "community," "community partners," and "partners working in community" in the report.

“CENTER COMMUNITY: We recognize that we can only achieve health equity if communities impacted by health inequities are at the center of our work. We acknowledge that communities know best their assets, needs, and solutions. We strive to recognize and share power and structure our meetings to foster meaningful engagement. We will find opportunities as a Council, individual members, and staff to attend community meetings to listen, learn, and seek input to guide our work. We will strive to incorporate stories of lived experience into our reports and recommendations.”
(Excerpt from Council Operating Principles, adopted 2019)

Table X. Council Activities between 2019 - 2023

- July 2019 – October 2020: At the direction of the Legislature, the Council convened and staffed the Office of Equity Task Force and the Environmental Justice Task Force.
- January 2020: The Council released a State Action Plan update with new recommendations.
- January - March 2020: State, national, and global health emergencies were declared concerning COVID-19.
- March – September 2020: Council staff was activated to support Washington state’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

- October 2020 – December 2022: At the direction of the Legislature, the Council convened and staffed the Social Equity in Cannabis Task Force.
- 2020 – 2021: The Council met less frequently due to reduced staff capacity.
- January – March 2022: Council Manager staff transition.
- Spring – Fall 2022: The Council resumed quarterly meetings and began the Redesign Process, including collaborative redesign workshops.
- Summer 2023: The Council organized a community engagement road trip to learn about partners’ visions and priorities.
- Fall 2023: The Council submitted request legislation and a decision package (fiscal request) to the Governor’s Office for consideration.

It is significant to note how Council staff have been assigned to various projects over the past four years, including the COVID-19 pandemic response and legislatively mandated task forces. The Council has one permanent staff position (1.0 FTE Council Manager), and staff capacity largely determines the Council’s ability or inability to convene and to maintain momentum on shared priorities.

COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP

Commented [LH5]: Moved Membership from the end of the report to this page.

The Council currently has 17 members:

- A chair who is the Governor or the Governor’s designee;
- Representatives of 14 state agencies, boards, and commissions; and
- Two members of the public who represent healthcare consumers.

A list of current Council members is provided below (Table X). The Council’s interagency structure allows us to have a statewide and broad approach to addressing health ~~disparities~~inequities. The Council considers not only health and healthcare issues, but also the social factors that influence health and wellbeing, such as education, economic wellbeing, civic engagement, and the environment.

Governor’s Representative and Council Chair:	Benjamin Danielson
Consumer Representative and Council Vice Chair:	Victor Rodriguez
Consumer Representative:	Leah Wainman
American Indian Health Commission ¹ :	Willie Frank JanMarie Ward (alternate)

¹ The Governor’s Office of Indian Affairs delegated authority to the American Indian Health Commission to appoint a representative to the Council.

Commission on African American Affairs:	Sara Franklin-Phillips
Commission on Asian Pacific American Affairs:	Lydia Faitalia
Commission on Hispanic Affairs:	María Á. Sigüenza
Department of Agriculture:	Nicole Johnson Kelly McLain (alternate)
Department of Commerce:	Diane Klontz Kendrick Stewart (alternate)
Department of Children, Youth, and Families:	Greg Williamson Jennifer Helseth (alternate)
Department of Ecology:	Millie Piazza Courtney Cecale (alternate)
Department of Health:	Elizabeth Perez
Department of Social and Health Services:	Jessica Zinda
Health Care Authority:	DoQuyen Huynh Lena Nachand (alternate)
Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction:	Vacant
State Board of Health:	Stephen Kutz Michelle Davis (alternate)
Workforce Training and Education Coordinating Board:	Renee Fullerton

COUNCIL REDESIGN PROCESS

PURPOSE

~~The Councils’ authorizing statute, the law that directs our work, has not been substantively updated since our creation in 2006. Under current law (chapters 43.20.270, 43.20.275, and 43.20.280 RCW), the Council works to develop policy recommendations and promote coordination among relevant state agencies, communities, and the public and private sectors to address health disparities among people of color and women, among other duties.~~

Commented [LH6]: Deleted. Redundant with previous sections.

Several years ago, the Council began discussing the need to redesign our statute to incorporate our many years of work and learning. We have gathered these learnings through hearing about health equity issues from community, convening subcommittees on priority topics, conducting special projects at the legislature’s direction, creating policy recommendations and reports, and promoting interagency collaboration over the past 17 years. The redesign is meant to incorporate what we have learned alongside partners and create opportunity for greater collective impact.

Commented [LH7]: Received feedback from a colleague that many of the lessons prompting the redesign came internally from the Council itself, and this story was not adequately conveyed in the first draft.

Key lesson: The Council heard from our advisory committees and members of the public, particularly communities most impacted by inequities, that Washington needs to address structural and institutional inequities in our state system as a key strategy to eliminating health inequities.

“Resources are often designed to make us feel better without changing the systems that are making us sick.” - Community Partner

Key lesson: The compass should always be community. Partners shared that the Council needs to develop goals and do work that meets community expectations, and communities must be engaged in every step of the process.

“We already know what the problems are and have solutions—we just need people to listen to us.” - Community Partner

PROCESS

Since November 2022, the Council has been holding a series of [public redesign workshops](#). We have also connected with key partners in community and government to learn how the Council can lead or support unified goals for health and wellbeing. Partners offered insight on how the Council could better engage communities as well as align with partners’ visions and priorities to address **unjust health disparities (inequities)** and advance health justice and equity.

“How [does the state] create policy for people [it doesn’t] even know exist?”
- Community Partner

Figure X. Visual Summary of the May 10, 2023 Redesign Workshop



2023 Community Engagement Road Trip

The Council organized 16 meetings during July and August 2023 to learn from organizations working in community to eliminate health disparities and promote health equity. We wanted to learn about community partners’ visions and priorities, including strategies partners are centering as they serve communities and grow capacity.

The Council also heard recommendations from partners on how the Council could operate in the future to move toward meaningful, collective impact on health justice, equity, and wellbeing. Many of these recommendations are incorporated in our request legislation and decision package (see pages X – X for Council recommendations on statutory changes and fiscal investment).

Table X. Learnings from 2023 Community Engagement Road Trip

Community partners’ visions and priorities:

- Promote holistic health.
- Health looks like so many different things.
- Focus on the social determinants of health: food access, education, safety at work, air quality, quality housing, protection from pesticides, and so much more.
- Health and wellbeing can only happen with attention to relationships and culture.
- Move toward shared wellbeing and belonging.
- Healing is necessary for health and wellbeing.
- Health and wellbeing require systems change and a focus on addressing racism.
- Civic engagement is essential to systems change and health.
- Health should not be linked to work status, income, insurance coverage, or ability.
- Everyone should have quality healthcare services.
- People need access to culturally appropriate services (healthcare providers, navigators, follow-up, wraparound care, etc.).
- Language access is critical and remains a huge need.
- Address health workforce supply and service availability.
- While workforce diversity is important, it is not enough—health systems need to change to better serve people.
- Climate, energy transition, and utilities are all health equity issues.
- Organizations need stable and flexible funding so they can serve marginalized communities.

Community partners’ recommendations for Council operations:

- Promote a flow of information, including information and data from community, information on policy status and implementation, and the Council’s learnings and recommendations.
- Connect, convene, and help build relationships across partners. Build a statewide infrastructure that allows organizations to coordinate with the Council and with each other.
- Support transparency and systems navigation.
- Promote civic engagement and vitality. Create spaces for under-resourced community organizations. Create space for elder and youth voices.

- Co-design and co-create with community. Focus on community-led strategies instead of recycling research on disparities. Global, cross-system goals should be developed by the most impacted groups.
- Work on big issues together: health equity, systemic racism, incarceration, racial wealth gap, language justice, etc.
- Incorporate equitable and liberating principles within the Council. We cannot have equitable outcomes without equitable processes.
- Enact a cohesive community engagement strategy and communications strategy. “Set the table” in government and make it ready for community voice. True access includes considerations of language, internet access, ability to read/write, etc.
- Learn about communities across the state (they are not all the same) and maintain reciprocal relationships.
- Integrate the Council’s work in all state agencies.
- People need to see that government is taking action in meaningful ways.
- Fully staff and resource the Council to do this work.

“How much more effective could we be if we pool our resources and brilliance? Exponentially.” - Community Partner

FOUNDATIONAL TRUTHS

These foundational truths provide shared purpose and meaning for this redesign:

- Racism is a public health crisis.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has worsened conditions for communities.
- We are interconnected.
- There are many dimensions to health and wellbeing.
- Community holds inherent power.

Research shows that clinical care has a smaller impact on our health than the resources we have access to and the conditions where we live, learn, work, and age (social determinants of health).^{2,3} Instead of using the term “health disparities,” which hides the unfair, unjust, and avoidable nature of most differences in health, the Council uses the more accurate term “health inequities” to refer to how the unequal and unfair distribution of resources in our society impacts health and wellbeing, leading to poorer health outcomes and shorter life expectancies experienced by communities of color and additional marginalized communities. In short, health inequities are neither coincidental nor random: they are an injustice that is perpetuated by our intentionally built systems and structures.

State policy and law are determinants of health and play an important role in where environmental harm is concentrated in our state, who has or is denied access to quality and

² <https://nam.edu/social-determinants-of-health-101-for-health-care-five-plus-five/>

³ <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26526164/>

Commented [LH8]: Comment from a colleague: “Would it be appropriate in this report to state why we are shifting language from disparities to inequities?”

Commented [LH9]: Feedback from a councilmember: “The framework is “racism is a public health issue” but the paragraph is primarily around economic losses or “cost,” not about health more generally.

“We talk about “root causes” but primarily focus on concepts (which are important! but I think this section would be strengthened with examples of where those concepts are grounded). Identifying some of the sources may support agency accountability to address them, and I recommend adding them in somewhere. For instance, “environmental harm, lack of access and expense of medical services, labor inequities, cost of tuition, etc.

“There is no mention of how this is a legal problem as well.”

affordable healthcare services, equity and inequity in labor, meaningful opportunity for or denial of educational attainment, and more.

Eliminating unjust health disparities (i.e., health inequities) requires addressing inequities in our systems, structures, and culture, which are built on historical injustices with roots in slavery and genocide. Acknowledging and addressing historical trauma are first steps to repairing harm, and we must rebuild our state government system to avoid causing harm in the first place.

Historical trauma: “[S]ituations where a community experienced traumatic events, the events generated high levels of collective distress, and the events were perpetuated by outsiders with a destructive or genocidal intent.”

- Indian Health Improvement Act, [Chapter 43.71B RCW](#)

Through research and the expertise of our community partners, we know that addressing health inequities requires coordinated action to **address root causes** that are “diverse, complex, evolving, and interdependent in nature.”⁴ Root causes include but are not limited to classism, racism, anti-Indigeneity, sexism, geographic isolation, ableism, homophobia, transphobia, and discrimination based on immigration or documentation status.

Table X. Racism is a Public Health Crisis

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) states, “A growing body of research shows that centuries of racism in this country has had a profound and negative impact on communities of color. The impact is pervasive and deeply embedded in our society— affecting where one lives, learns, works, worships and plays and creating inequities in access to a range of social and economic benefits—such as housing, education, wealth, and employment.”⁵ Across a variety of measures of health outcomes, healthcare, and social determinants of health (e.g., food security, quality housing, interaction with the police), people of color and American Indian/Alaska Native people have worse experiences and outcomes than white people.^{6,7}

“Racism IS a public health crisis.” – Community Partner

Racism harms us *all* by causing dire impacts on public, community, and individual health. There have been at least 250 statements across the nation [declaring Racism as a Public Health Crisis](#), adopted by cities/towns, counties, state governors, school boards, health associations, and public health departments.⁸

⁴ <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK425845/>

⁵ <https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/report/key-data-on-health-and-health-care-by-race-and-ethnicity/>

⁶ <https://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/racism-disparities/index.html>

⁷ <https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/report/key-data-on-health-and-health-care-by-race-and-ethnicity/>

⁸ https://www.apha.org/-/media/Files/PDF/topics/racism/Racism_Declarations_Analysis.ashx

According to the Network for Public Health Law, “[t]reating racism as a public health crisis means recognizing that it affects entire groups of people, not just individuals, and that proposed solutions must be focused on policy and systems change rather than individual behaviors.”⁹ The American Public Health Association finds “[t]hese declarations are an important first step to advancing racial equity and justice and must be followed by allocation of resources and strategic action.”¹⁰

Although the [WA State Board of Health](#), the [WA State Public Health Association](#), and some local and public health jurisdictions in Washington have declared Racism Is A Public Health Crisis, Washington state as a whole has not made such a declaration.

Commented [LH10]: Added examples from the SBOH and WSPHA.

Health inequities, due to racism and other systems of oppression, cost us all and have a large, avoidable financial toll on our state and country. ~~According to studies, “Health inequities exist for racial and ethnic minorities and persons with lower educational attainment due to differential exposure to economic, social, structural, and environmental health risks and limited access to health care.”~~¹¹ Nationally, health inequities lead to “delayed care, access barriers, missed diagnoses and limited access to preventive services and scientific advances” that result in roughly \$42 billion in lost productivity each year.¹² According to the 2022 Black Well-Being Report, “[r]esearch shows that 30% of medical costs for Black, Hispanic, and Asian Americans are excess costs related to health inequities.”¹³ Additionally, the overall economic burden of health inequities on minoritized racial/ethnic populations has been estimated at \$421-\$451 billion and the economic burden on adults without a 4-year college degree has been estimated at \$940-\$978 billion. These costs come in the forms of “excess medical care expenditures, lost labor market productivity, and the value of excess premature death.”¹⁴

Commented [LH11]: Deleted. Seems redundant with the additional information added above around health inequities and impact to communities of color.

Crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic and climate change are further impacting the health and wellbeing of Washingtonians, and exacerbating long-standing inequities in our health care, economic, workforce, educational, and additional systems. These crises emphasize that government is not currently structured in a way to respond to crises without leaving broad groups of people behind. U.S. life expectancy was already on the decline before the pandemic: from 78.9 to 78.6 years between 2014 to 2017. Research shows that “[d]uring the last half of

⁹ <https://www.networkforphl.org/resources/topics/racism-as-a-public-health-crisis/>

¹⁰ <https://www.apha.org/Topics-and-Issues/Racial-Equity/Racism-Declarations>

¹² <https://www.ama-assn.org/delivering-care/health-equity/inequity-damages-health-and-drains-economy#:~:text=The%20Deloitte%20Health%20Equity%20Institute%20report%20says%20health%20inequities%20account.and%20%242.4%20billion%20treating%20asthma.>

¹³ <https://www.blackfuturewa.org/blackwellbeing>

¹⁴ https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2804818?guestAccessKey=d0ef4664-62ff-4b6d-a816-c450ebc07a08&utm_source=For_The_Media&utm_medium=referral&utm_campaign=ftm_links&utm_content=tfi&utm_term=051623

the 2010s, life expectancy for college-educated persons continued to increase, while life expectancy for adults without a college education decreased.”¹⁵

The pandemic’s generational impacts include “profound effects on the Washington labor market”¹⁶ and the most significant decline in life expectancy in the U.S. in the past century: “overall U.S. life expectancy declined by 2.7 years between 2019 and 2021, American Indian and Alaskan Native (AIAN) people experienced a decline of 6.6 years, Hispanic people and Black people dropped 4.2 and 4 years, respectively, compared to a decline of 2.4 years for [w]hite people and 2.1 years for Asian people.”¹⁷ When data are disaggregated, we see that Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander people in Washington continue to experience much higher rates of COVID-19 contraction, hospitalization, and death compared to white people¹⁸ due to deeply entrenched health inequities caused by structural racism and other forms of oppression.

“I have hope for more change. We saw our Latino communities left behind during the pandemic.” – Community Partner

A University of Washington assessment conducted during the pandemic shows that “[f]armers, ranchers and growers in eastern Washington, and [Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) farmers] and military veteran farmers, tended to experience a greater financial impact compared to other food producers in the state” while “[f]armers were already facing other challenges, from worker shortages to wildfires and heat waves related to climate change.”¹⁹

These crises demonstrate that we are interconnected with each other and with the natural environment. Promoting individual and human health requires care and respect for the health of all beings, as our health and wellbeing cannot be disentangled from each other.

Health is more than the absence of disease. Health is powerful and it is at the foundation of all we do. Attaining one’s full health potential requires having power, access, opportunity, knowledge, and resources. Our state government must go beyond addressing gaps and work toward the highest conceivable standards, so that all Washingtonians can attain **optimal health and wellbeing**.

“Health disparities are real. The evidence base is large and irrefutable. As such, the time is now to shift the research emphasis away from solely documenting the pervasiveness of the health disparities problem and begin focusing on health equity, the highest level of health possible.”

– Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

¹⁵ [https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2804818?guestAccessKey=d0ef4664-62ff-4b6d-a816-c450ebc07a08&utm_source=For The Media&utm_medium=referral&utm_campaign=ftm_links&utm_content=tfi&utm_term=051623](https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2804818?guestAccessKey=d0ef4664-62ff-4b6d-a816-c450ebc07a08&utm_source=For%20The%20Media&utm_medium=referral&utm_campaign=ftm_links&utm_content=tfi&utm_term=051623)

¹⁶ <https://esd.wa.gov/labormarketinfo/covid-19-economic-data>

¹⁷ <https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/press-release/recent-widening-of-racial-disparities-in-u-s-life-expectancy-was-largely-driven-by-covid-19-mortality/>

¹⁸ <https://doh.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2022-02/COVID-19MorbidityMortalityRaceEthnicityLanguageWASState.pdf>

¹⁹ <https://sph.washington.edu/news-events/sph-blog/farm-to-table-covid19>

Health consists of multiple, interdependent dimensions: mental, physical, occupational, social, emotional, spiritual, intellectual, environmental, financial, and more. Health is more than the absence of disease and can look different for each individual, community, and state. As community has spotlighted over the years, there remains a critical and growing need to support cultural and linguistic diversity, including providing culturally and linguistically appropriate services in all settings where people seek care, belonging, health, and wellbeing.

“There would be so much potential if healthcare were accessible, affordable, appropriate, affirming, and available to everyone. There would be so much health potential and power of prevention if people did not have to delay or forgo healthcare services. There would be integration of care to address physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual health, wellbeing, and quality of life. All of this could help people achieve their highest potential, and certain powers could come into being in the world as a result.”

– Public meeting participant

Community holds inherent power. The Council and the state must structure ourselves to be led by that power. We have learned from community partners that health and wellbeing can only happen with attention to relationships and culture. They remind us that definitions and conditions for wellbeing and liberation must be determined by communities, and the Council should develop goals and do work that meets community expectations.

Table X. **Exploration: Health as a Right**

“We all have the right to treatment for health issues just because we are a person.”

– Community Member

During the redesign, the Council explored the foundational question: *Is health a need, an opportunity, or something else?* How we see health determines the way we demand it, protect it, and promote it.

The Council acknowledges that writing and using policies/law to uphold ideas around the right to health are relatively new concepts within the context of time immemorial. Indigenous ways of knowing and being include a holistic approach, where there is inherent understanding that people are connected to each other, to land, and to other animals.²⁰

Written and legal declarations related to Health as a Right occurred after World War II. The World Health Organization (WHO) preamble was the first written document to outline Health as a Right, defining health as “a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity.”²¹ This document also states, “the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health is one of the fundamental rights of every human

²⁰ <https://opentextbc.ca/indigenizationfrontlineworkers/chapter/indigenous-ways-of-knowing-and-being/>

²¹ https://apps.who.int/gb/bd/pdf_files/BD_49th-en.pdf#page=6

being without distinction of race, religion, political belief, economic or social condition.”²² Since then, there have been additional documents outlining the right to health on an international level.²³

The U.S. has signed the following frameworks that name Health as a Right:

- World Health Organization Constitution
- International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights (signed, but not ratified)
- Convention on the Rights of the Child (signed, but not ratified)
- Universal Declaration of Human Rights
- World Health Assembly Resolution 58.33

Naming health as a right on the state level can be one tool to initiate a change in the cultural attitudes around health and caring for each other. There are also opportunities to center Indigenous People-led initiatives, advocate for things like standardized living wages, universal healthcare, access to clean water, improved birth outcomes, increasing culturally-appropriate services, reductions in carbon emissions, recognition of traditional medicines, and more.²⁴ There may also be legal or financial responsibilities associated with declaring Health As A Right. The WHO stated that “[a]cknowledging health as a human right recognizes a legal obligation on [countries] to ensure access to timely, acceptable, and affordable healthcare.”²⁵

May 10, 2023 Council public meeting

Question: How would our world be different if we had access to quality healthcare—if it was a right and you did not have to worry about how your identity is received or the availability of culturally and linguistically appropriate care?

Some responses from Council members and public participants:

“Proper healthcare for all means less stress for people, better quality of life, and a healthier society overall.”

“We could relax into the knowledge that our families are cared for. The calculus of always having to scrap things together is exhausting.”

“[Our children] would not have to worry about making decisions between rent, food, and healthcare.”

²² https://apps.who.int/gb/bd/pdf_files/BD_49th-en.pdf#page=6

²³ <https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/Factsheet31.pdf>

²⁴ Will fill in

²⁵ <https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/human-rights-and-health#:~:text=Key%20facts,acceptable%2C%20and%20affordable%20health%20care.>

“The world would be different because poverty would not be a forgone conclusion, and we would have the chance to materialize the things we can only dream of right now.”

“We could take a collective exhale... People would feel they are heard, seen, and cared for. We would breathe clean air, live in safe homes, next to family and neighbors who care for us.”

“Mental health, behavioral health, and substance use treatment are destigmatized further and readily available. We would live in a world where the demonstrated dignity of all allows us a big sigh of relief that we all matter.”

RECOMMENDATIONS

Commented [LH12]: Added a section divider for distinction.

COUNCIL REDESIGN: STATUTORY UPDATES

The Council recommends updates to our authorizing statute (chapters [43.20.270](#), [43.20.275](#), and [43.20.280](#) RCW) to align Council efforts with community visions, statewide priorities, current structures, and multisectoral approaches to advance health justice and equity. The Council has submitted [request legislation](#) to the Governor’s Office for consideration for the 2024 legislative session.

Statutory updates, along with increased fiscal investment, would allow the Council to provide policy coordination and leadership to help Washington respond to statewide health crises with strategies that are equal in scope and timeliness. Beyond survival and closing gaps, statutory updates would allow the Council to help move our governmental systems toward promoting optimal health and wellbeing for all Washingtonians.

Table X. Health Justice Framework

A resilient, thriving Washington state requires dedicated, sustained efforts to eliminate unjust health disparities and advance health justice and equity.

Health equity only exists when we all have the opportunity to reach our full potential.

Health justice builds on principles of health equity and provides a framework to achieve lasting health equity goals. Health justice “requires addressing the structural determinants of health that are the root cause of health inequities, such as the social and economic policies that create unequal conditions in health care, employment, housing, and education.”²⁶

A **Health Justice** framework includes:²⁷

- Collaboration across areas of study and work
- Upstream interventions that address root causes of inequities
- Racial justice
- Adaptability
- Advocacy for systems change
- Community-based strategies

Commented [LH13]: A councilmember suggested that this info on health justice would benefit from definitions and defined goals. Also for consideration: We heard from community partners that there should not be one definition of "health equity" or "health justice" and that definitions, visions, and goals should be community-led.

²⁶ https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369103245_INTRODUCTION_What_is_Health_Justice

²⁷ https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369103245_INTRODUCTION_What_is_Health_Justice

In practice, health justice approaches have been applied to multiple policy topics, including the COVID-19 response,²⁸ school discipline,^{29,30} childcare,³¹ and environmental health.³² The United Nations and U.S. CDC have referenced the health justice framework to discuss inequities exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.^{33,34}

REDESIGN CORE CONCEPTS

The Council’s recommendations for statutory updates are grounded in the following core concepts.

1. Consider health as a right
2. Advance health justice and equity
3. Focus on root causes
4. Change the narrative around health and wellbeing
5. Position the Council to develop and advocate policy recommendations
6. Contribute to initiatives that unify partners, align efforts, and reinforce accountability
7. Proactively support communities in building power
8. Update Council structure and membership

RECOMMENDED STATUTORY UPDATES

- **Update the Council’s name to “Governor’s Council for Health Justice and Equity.”** Enable the Council to focus on health inequities (instead of only disparities), root causes, and social determinants of health, which are the primary drivers of health and wellbeing. Expand our focus to include additional marginalized identities beyond racial/ethnic and gender identities systems of oppression that intersect with and compound race- and gender-based discrimination.
- **Enable the Council to create a Health Justice framework and policy recommendations that guide state actions toward enduring health equity and optimal health for all.** The vision, goals, and policy recommendations should recognize racism and climate change as public health crises. They should focus on the social and structural determinants of health as well as the diversity of communities across the state. This change would support community

Commented [LH14]: Do we need this in the report?

Commented [LH15R14]: Staff received mixed feedback on whether to keep these redesign core concepts in the report.

Commented [LH16]: Comment from a colleague: "I wonder if it might be better to use a consistent systems focus (my view is that, focusing on identity might make it so the issue up for discussion is people's identities vs. systems of oppression). Maybe "Expand our analysis to include other systems of oppression, that include and intersect with race- and gender-based discrimination.""

Commented [LH17]: Added these concepts here to be explicit about their significance and need for state action.

²⁸ <https://blog.petrieflom.law.harvard.edu/2021/10/13/community-based-organizations-health-justice/>

²⁹ <https://blog.petrieflom.law.harvard.edu/?s=Addressing+school+discipline+disparities+through+the+health+justice+framework&submit=Search>

³⁰ <https://aullawreview.org/blog/a-health-justice-response-to-school-discipline-and-policing/>

³¹ Libman, K., Adler, S., Musburger, P. (2022). Cooperative ownership as a health justice intervention: A promising strategy to advance health equity through the U.S. childcare system. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 50, 738-744.

³² Miao, G., Michel, K.H., Yuen, T. (2023). A health justice agenda for local governments to address environmental health inequities. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 50, 758-768.

³³ Venkatapuram, S. (2022). "Global health justice: Now is the time." United Nations, UN Chronicle. Available at: <https://www.un.org/en/un-chronicle/global-health-justice-now-time>.

³⁴ Ward, M.C. (2023). "Health justice as a tool to fight existing and future pandemics." U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Conversations in Equity. Available at: <https://blogs.cdc.gov/healthequity/2023/05/31/health-justice-as-a-tool-to-fight-existing-and-future-pandemics/>.

visions and priorities, state government efforts, and multisectoral strategies to address inequities.

- **Promote collaboration that benefits all Washingtonians.** Align with initiatives that unify partners and reinforce accountability (e.g., state Pro-Equity and Anti-Racism – PEAR, environmental justice, and economic justice strategies). This change would provide coordinated direction and avoid redundancy by clarifying the Council’s responsibilities in relation to key entities created after 2006, such as the WA State LGBTQ Commission, WA State Office of Equity, and Environmental Justice Council.
- **Center community voice and participatory processes,** so that communities who are most impacted by inequities have meaningful opportunities to shape narratives, priorities, and policy recommendations. The Council should have the ability to implement participatory models, such as collaboratives or community assemblies, to support our work.
- **Update membership and structure to better reflect community experiences and allow the Council to address complex, evolving priorities.** Add the WA State LGBTQ Commission, additional community member seats (including 2 seats reserved for youth), and flexible (pro tempore) seats to Council membership. Require Council members to be ~~persons~~ individuals who are committed to and well-informed regarding principles of health justice and equity. Require each member state agency to appoint an executive staff person or their designee to serve on the Council in order to promote agency commitment and coordination.
- **Support evidence-based policy and coordination by expressly allowing the Council to:**
 - Use topics and findings from Health Impact Reviews (RCW 43.20.285) to inform our priorities, strategies, and recommendations.
 - Develop positions on policy.
 - Independently endorse or comment on policy recommendations/positions of other groups (e.g., state and governmental entities, community-based and non-governmental entities) to promote coordination and development of promising practices.
- **Update Council reporting requirements,** with a spotlight on policy adoption and accountability among state agencies and decision-makers.

Updating and clarifying the Council’s name, membership, authority, and responsibilities would allow the Council to support state government more effectively in addressing health inequities and promoting optimal health and wellbeing, thereby benefiting all Washingtonians.

RECOMMENDATION 1: The Council recommends the passage of legislation to update the Council’s name, membership, authority, and responsibilities in statute.

Responsible Party: Legislature

Measure: Passage of Legislation

Timeline: 2024

COUNCIL REDESIGN: FISCAL INVESTMENTS

The Council recommends increased investment in Council operations to support effective, enduring strategies for addressing health inequities and advancing optimal health and wellbeing in Washington. The Council has submitted a [decision package](#) (fiscal request) to the Governor’s Office for consideration for the 2024 legislative session. The decision package requests roughly \$1.9 million per year in base operating funds.

Commented [LH18]: Heard from a councilmember that we should add the full amount we asked for.

The Council’s budget has not been adjusted since our creation in 2006, preventing the Council from fully meeting our statutory intent and requirements. For 17 years, the Council has primarily relied on 1.0 FTE assigned staff position (Council Manager) to organize public meetings; conduct studies, research, and other forms of information gathering; facilitate communication and collaboration between agencies, private and public sectors, and communities of color; and support Council members in developing policy recommendations and reports for state decision makers, among other required efforts.

“I’m always alarmed when there are groups with as much knowledge that you have and that don’t have resources... We need to get you funded, so the work actually takes hold.”

- Community Partner

Commented [LH19]: Moved this quote here.

The Washington State Board of Health (Board) was directed in statute to staff and convene the Council (RCW 43.20.275). While the Council and Board operate in a resourceful and efficient manner, this long-term underinvestment has created severe limitations on the Council’s work. In particular, current funding does not provide for community engagement or Tribal Relations staff. The Council needs the ability to hire and retain additional staff if we are to build collaborative relationships of trust with Tribal, community, and additional partners. Additionally, community partners have said that compensation, language assistance services, and hybrid meetings (i.e., meetings that offer both in-person and remote participation), among other supports, are essential for public participation.

“Invest in knowing your partners.”

- Community Partner

Adequate, sustainable funding would allow the Council to:

- ~~Hire and retain staff for research, analysis, policy development, communications, administration, Tribal relations, and community engagement.~~
- Fully operate and create meaningful, enduring relationships and strategies.
- ~~Hire and retain staff for research, analysis, policy development, communications, administration, Tribal relations, and community engagement.~~
- Hold hybrid and accessible public meetings throughout the state so communities have a meaningful chance to participate.
- Use communication tools to share information, build connections across communities, and support collaboration.
- Provide language assistance services.
- Provide stipends and other supports to workgroup participants to remove barriers to participation.

Commented [LH20]: Comment from a colleague: "I think this dot point should be first. We need this to do the other things."

"You can have the best intention or the best idea, but that's not enough. Staff, offices, programs need resources. If you don't give significant resources to the people who can make the change, then it's just talk and games."
- Community Partner

Commented [LH21]: Added this quote based on feedback that it is compelling.

RECOMMENDATION 2: The Council recommends dedicating additional funding (\$1.9 million per year) through the State Operating Budget (General Funds-State) to supporting the Council's operation.

Responsible Party: Legislature

Measure: Passage of Legislation (State Operating Budget)